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To the Annual General Meeting of Solidium Oy
We have audited the accounting records, the financial
statements, the report of the Board of Directors, and the
administration of Solidium Oy for the accounting period
1.5–30.6.2009. The financial statements comprise balance
sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes to
the financial statements.
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the
preparation of the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Directors is
responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of
the company’s accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in
compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have
been arranged in a reliable manner.
Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance
with good auditing practice in Finland, and to express an opinion on the company’s financial statements and on the report
of the Board of Directors based on our audit. Good auditing
practice requires that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors are free from material misstatement and
whether the members of the Board of Directors of the parent
company and the Managing Director have complied with the
Limited Liability Companies Act.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the report of the Board of Directors. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
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The key indicators for Solidium’s portfolio have been calculated by Suomen
Sijoitustutkimus Oy, an independent, outside service provider.
The key indicators of Solidium’s portfolio companies presented in this
annual report, related to full accounting periods, have been calculated by
Solidium. The calculations are based on information published by the companies, such as annual reports, releases, and company websites, or on other
publicly available information about the companies and their industry.
Quarterly or half year indicators are those released by the companies,
because the notes to financial statements available are not sufficient for
calculation of all key ratios.
Solidium analyses the financial information about companies in which it
has holdings in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Key indicators for companies often involve choices made on items to be

making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors.
The audit was performed in accordance with good auditing
practice in Finland. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors give a true and fair view of company’s
financial performance and financial position in accordance with
the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements.
The financial statements can be adopted and the Board of
Directors and Managing Director can be discharged from the
liability for the period audited by us. The proposal by the
Board of Directors regarding the distribution of retained earnings is in compliance with the Companies Act.
Helsinki, 7 September, 2009
Tuokko Tilintarkastus Oy, Authorised Public Accountants

Timo Tuokko, Authorised Public Accountant

included in the calculation. Solidium aims to follow a standardised analysis
procedure for all of its portfolio companies and assesses the nature of the
companies’ cash flow independently. Owing to these interpretations, the key
indicators may differ from those presented by the companies.
The dividends distributed for the 2007 accounting period were paid to
the State of Finland. Solidium in its current form had not been established
at the time of dividend distribution.
Information on the companies’ ownership base has been obtained from
the shareholder lists published by the companies.
This English version is a translation of the Finnish original. All discrepancies
between the language versions are unintentional, and in such cases the
Finnish version will prevail.

37

SOLIDIUM IN BRIEF

Solidium in brief
Solidium’s mission is to strengthen and stabilise Finnish ownership
in nationally important companies and to increase the value of its
holdings in the long run.
Solidium is a holding company wholly
owned by the State of Finland, which
cooperates with other investors. Solidium’s holdings involve national interests,
but its investment decisions are based
on ﬁnancial considerations. An active
participant in the Finnish capital market,
Solidium ﬁnances its activities with
return from its investments and debt.
ESTABLISHMENT OF SOLIDIUM OY
On 21 October 2008, the Finnish
Government decided to reorganise
Solidium Oy, a wholly state-owned
company, into a holding company that
manages the State’s non-strategic, listed
investments. The State’s holdings in
eight listed companies – Kemira Oyj,
Metso Corporation, Outokumpu Oyj,
Rautaruukki Corporation, Sampo plc,
Sponda Plc, Stora Enso Oyj, and
TeliaSonera AB – were transferred to
Solidium on 11 December 2008.

Solidium commenced to build its organisation and commenced its operations in
spring 2009. On 11 June 2009, the
Government decided to transfer the
State’s holdings in Elisa Corporation to
Solidium, raising the number of companies in Solidium’s portfolio to nine.
SOLIDIUM OY’S OPERATIONS
Solidium’s operations consist of several
tasks:
ʸ Solidium analyses and implements
possible changes in the current
portfolio structure,
ʸ Solidium reports on the value and
return of its portfolio,
ʸ Solidium participates in the nomination of the portfolio companies’
boards of directors, and
ʸ Solidium screens and anlyses new
potential target companies that
meets its investment criteria.

Furthermore, Solidium prepares analyses of the industries and competitors of
its portfolio companies and potential
target companies.

PORTFOLIO
TeliaSonera AB (38.1%)
Sampo plc A (17.8%)
Rautaruukki Corporation K (13.2%)
Outokumpu Oyj (11.6%)
Stora Enso Oyj (7.0%)
Metso Corporation (3.5%)
Elisa Corporation (3.3%)
Sponda Plc (3.2%)
Kemira Oyj (2.3%)

SOCIAL IMPACT AND INTERNATIONAL ASPECTS OF SOLIDIUM’S PORTFOLIO COMPANIES

Company
Elisa
Kemira
Metso
Outokumpu
Rautaruukki
Sampo
Sponda
Stora Enso
TeliaSonera
Total

Turnover in
2008, €m
1 485
2 833
6 400
5 474
3 851
4 350
224
11 029
10 791
46 437

Turnover
outside Employees
Finland, %
in 2008
10
3 017
84
9 405
93
28 010
96
8 471
14 953
68
70
7 145
10
137
92
33 815
84
30 037
83 (1
134 990

Employees
outside
Finland
300
7 268
19 939
5 676
7 331
5 002
16
22 500
24 779
92 810

Shareholders on 30
June 2009
227 209
22 753
47 350
27 488
38 345
72 334
9 831
64 500
650 163
(2

Foreign
shareholdings, %
24
11
54
32
30
51
34
71
80
22 494 (3

Market value
on 30 June
2009, €m
1 951
850
1 885
2 224
1 999
7 550
563
3 141
16 695
36 858 (4

Solidium’s
holding on Weight in
30 June portfolio,
2009, €m
%
195.1
3.3
140.5
2.3
208.7
3.5
693.7
11.6
793.1
13.2
1 066.3
17.8
193.2
3.2
418.9
7.0
2 285.8
38.1
5 995.3
100

1) Turnover-weighted average.
2) The total number of shareholders is not summed up, because holdings may overlap.
3) Total market value attributable to foreign shareholders.
4) Accounted for 30% of the market value of the OMX Nordic Exchange Helsinki.
Comments:
The number of employees reported by the company represents the year-end ﬁgure or the average over the year.
If the company has not given an exact ﬁgure, the number of employees outside Finland has been estimated from the percentage distribution provided by the company.
The number of Elisa’s employees outside Finland has been estimated using the distribution of business in various countries
The number of Stora Enso’s shareholders has been taken from the 2008 Annual Report.
The share of foreign shareholdings is based on the assumption that nominee-registered shares are held by foreign owners.
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Acting on behalf
of ﬁve million
investors
Keijo Suila, Chairman of Solidium’s Board of Directors, and
Kari Järvinen, the company’s Managing Director, sat down
to answer questions about Solidium.
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What has taken place during
Solidium’s first six months?
KS: A great deal: The Solidium project
was announced in October 2008 and
the Board of Directors was appointed in
December. The company’s Managing
Director was elected in February 2009,
and operations were launched in March,
with four employees at the time.
KJ: The world did not stop to wait
for us to get off the ground. Much is
happening in our portfolio companies,
and we have rapidly commenced our
analyses of the nine portfolio companies. Our ﬁrst published project was to
participate in the Sponda share issue.
We subscribed for new Sponda shares
with some 71 million euros in June. The
issue strengthened Sponda’s balance
sheet. In June the State’s shares were

transferred to our portfolio and, in addition, we bought Elisa’s
shares on the stock exchange.
What does Solidium plan to do in the following
financial period?
KS: We will look for new portfolio companies and analyse
new situations and proposals and react to them in our role
as owner, when appropriate. In this work, only the tip of the
iceberg actually reaches the execution
phase.
KJ: A key task in the coming period
is to create and establish Solidium’s
approach to ownership, whether dealing with board nominations or other
company-speciﬁc matters.

What are some of the main aspects of ownership?
KS: It is important for companies, as well as investors, to have
conﬁdence in us. All parties must be able to trust us to do our
work properly and well. It is also important for everyone to
understand the bases for our decisions. This makes our operations both predictable and logical.
KJ: If the outcome of the work is not good, networks are
of no use. If we do our homework well, we will be openly
welcomed in various situations. My
main task is to ensure that Solidium’s
machinery works well, the information
and competence communicated outside
the company are of high quality, and the
decisions are based on careful analysis.
This will give us better insight into our
holdings so that quarterly ﬂuctuations
in performance do not affect our views
of ownership.

Long-term
vision and
fast
reactions.

What is Solidium’s goal? what does
the blue-and-white mission refer to?
KS: It means ensuring a suﬃcient
degree of domestic ownership in companies important to Finland. Another
goal is to ensure return from the portfolio companies.
KJ: Solidium aims to be an active Finnish owner. This
means professional, long-term, and predictable operations
guided by economic thinking. The blue-and-white mission will
also be reﬂected in any new investments.

Do you believe that the goal for Solidium’s
establishment has been reached?
KS: We are obviously still in the early stages. In my mind, the
start is promising and work routines are taking form. We
already pursued one of our objectives in the Sponda share
issue by strengthening the company’s balance sheet and helping it to cope with the recession.
KJ: As for value development, results can only be seen in
the long term, and even then we have to honestly evaluate
our share of the credit – or blame – for them. Since much of
value development is directly attributable to stock exchange
trends, we must be able to identify the consequences of our
own decisions.
Who do you consider to be Solidium’s peer entities?
KS: Many parties, depending on the situation. There are, for
example, state-owned investment companies that manage
company holdings passed down for next generations for various reasons. Sweden has its ‘Enheten för statligt ägande’
headed by civil servants. The Norwegian ‘Norges Bank Investment Management’ differs from us in the sense that Norway’s
assets from petroleum are considerable, and the country
mainly invests them abroad. The objectives of state-owned
holding companies also differ widely. What they have in common, however, is the strong need to report that citizens’
assets are managed responsibly.
KJ: There are also pure asset management companies,
such as Investor AB and AB Industrivärden in Sweden. As they
are limited companies, their reporting, supervision, and other
operating conditions are comparable to those of Solidium.
Their goal is to increase shareholder value, which also lies at
the core of Solidium’s operations.

How do you maintain contact with
your portfolio companies?
KS: We are an owner who cannot enter and leave the portfolio
companies swiftly. This places special responsibility on us. We
want to understand how companies are doing in their respective sectors and what the sector’s outlook is like. This is what
we hear from company management at investor meetings.
KJ: All of our portfolio companies have a broad ownership
base. They communicate well with their owners, and the management regularly meet with investors – meaning us, as well.
We also discuss the situation of individual companies in their
nomination committees. Contacts with the Boards of Directors
are handled through the chairs of the Boards. We keep in
contact like any major owner.
Why are you publishing an annual report even though
your first financial period was only two months?
KJ: We decided we would rather be too transparent than
unintentionally secretive. I believe that the reporters and
public following us want to get information about Solidium.
Because of this, we prepared our ﬁrst annual report as a basis
for our reporting practices. We also hope to get feedback on
the ﬁrst annual report and aim to improve its content every
year.
What is your message to finns, whose assets
you are managing?
KS: We are receptive to evaluations of our operations and
achievements. It is important that citizens understand the
actions we take. We also hope to achieve the respect of the
investment community for operational concept and rationale.
Our goal is to be an asset manager respected among investment professionals.
KJ: Solidium’s entire staff is proud and enthusiastic about
the responsibility and task given to us. The establishment of
Solidium will certainly prove to be an appropriate measure in
the rapidly changing capital markets.
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Solidium’s background and
operations
Solidium Oy is a holding company wholly owned by
the State of Finland and a major shareholder in nine
listed companies.
ESTABLISHMENT OF SOLIDIUM
On 21 October 2008, the Finnish Government decided to
reorganise Solidium Oy, a wholly state-owned company, into
a holding company that manages the State’s non-strategic
listed investments. In this conjunction, it also decided to transfer the state-owned shares in eight listed companies – Kemira
Oyj, Metso Corporation, Outokumpu Oyj, Rautaruukki Corporation, Sampo plc, Sponda Plc, Stora Enso Oyj, and TeliaSonera AB – to Solidium as a contribution in kind.
Parliament approved the arrangement at the end of
November 2008 as a part of the second supplementary
budget for 2008. At the beginning of December, the Financial
Supervision Authority granted an exemption to Solidium from
making a mandatory bid for the remaining shares in companies
in which its holdings exceeded 30 per cent.
Solidium’s extraordinary general meeting held on 11
December 2008 decided to increase the company’s share
capital and unrestricted shareholders’ equity by an amount
corresponding to the value of the listed shares transferred to
Solidium. The value of the transferred shares were in aggregate EUR 5.3 billion. On 12 December 2008, the extraordinary
general meeting elected a new Board of Directors, which, in
turn, initiated the search process for a Managing Director.
Solidium’s organisation and launch were initiated in spring
2009.
A demerger related to Solidium’s earlier company history,
in which the company’s previous business operations were
transferred to a new corporate entity, Governia Oy, was also
completed in spring 2009. Governia’s business mainly consists
of the administration of deﬁned state-owned real estate
assets. The demerger process was completed on 30 April
2009, and the companies formed as a result of the demerger
process oﬃcially launched operations on 1 May 2009. As a
result, the ﬁrst ﬁnancial period of (the new) Solidium Oy
began on 1 May 2009 and ended on 30 June 2009. The ﬁnancial statement in this annual report correspond to these two
months. Solidium’s ﬁnancial period is 1 July–30 June enabling
the State, as shareholder, to decide as soon as possible on
distributing as dividends to the State any dividends and proceeds from share sales received by Solidium.
Solidium became the biggest owner of Elisa Corporation
when the Government decided on 11 June 2009 to transfer the
state-owned Elisa shares to Solidium as an increase in the
reserve for invested non-restricted equity. This brought the
number of companies in Solidium’s portfolio to nine.
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SOME ACTS AND DECISIONS RELEVANT TO SOLIDIUM
The shareholder activities of the Finnish State are governed by
the Act on State Shareholdings (1368/2007), which took
effect in early 2008 and lays down provisions on the State’s
shareholdings in companies and on ownership steering. The
2008 act replaced the 1991 Act on State-owned Companies
(740/1991), which laid down provisions on the use of the
State’s shareholder rights in a number of economically active
limited companies but had become outdated in many respects.
The Act on State Shareholdings applies to the State’s
ownership activities in all companies. It does not deviate from
legislation on companies and the securities market. This
means that the State as a shareholder, as well as all stateowned companies, must comply with the obligations and
constraints concerning the use of insider information as
provided in, for example, the Companies Act, the Securities
Markets Act and the Criminal Code.
In addition to pertinent legislation, the State’s ownership
steering actions are governed by the Government Programme,
Government decisions, and statements by the Cabinet Committee on Economic Policy.
In June 2007, Prime Minister Vanhanen’s second Cabinet
submitted a resolution on the State’s ownership policy, outlining the key principles and practices of State ownership steering. The resolution deﬁned companies of strategic interest, as
well as cooperation between ownership steering oﬃcials and
the regulatory ministry.
In this conjunction, the Cabinet Committee on Economic
Policy also made a statement on remuneration in state-owned
companies and the State’s associated companies. The statement provides guidelines on reasonable amounts of remuneration and on methods that encourage long-term value creation.
The objective of the guidelines is also to enhance the commitment of key employees to the companies.
In January 2008, the Cabinet Committee on Economic
Policy made a statement conﬁrming the ownership policy
guidelines. In the committee’s opinion, it is important to distingish the role of a shareholder from operative decisions
made by the company. Moreover, the committee emphasised
that the objective of listed companies is economically proﬁtable operations. They cannot be retrospectively subjected to
social or regional policy obligations that differ from those
imposed on any other company.
In October 2008, the Finnish Government decided to
transfer the State’s non-strategic listed shares to Solidium Oy,
a wholly state-owned company. Solidium is to manage the
holdings in a way that ensures the best overall return to the
State. In line with the general principles of the State’s ownership policy, the State decides on Solidium’s policies and oper-

BACKGROUND AND OPERATIONS

ating principles, as well as on matters that are resolved in
the annual general meetings. Since the shares in the portfolio
companies were transferred to Solidium within the powers
conferred by the Act on State Shareholdings, the transfer did
not require parliamentary consent. The matter was, however,
presented to Parliament, seeing as Solidium’s operations differ
from the principles of budget economy especially in that the
company can reinvest proceeds from sale of its portfolio
shares. Parliament approved the arrangement at the end of
November 2008 as a part of the second supplementary
budget for 2008.
SOLIDIUM’S OPERATIONS
Solidium’s operations consist of several tasks:
ʸ Solidium analyses and implements possible changes in the
current portfolio structure,
ʸ Solidium reports on the value and return of its portfolio,
ʸ Solidium participates in the nomination of the portfolio
companies’ boards of directors, and
ʸ Solidium screens and analyses new potential target
companies that meet its investment criteria.
Furthermore, Solidium prepares analyses of the industries and
competitors of its portfolio companies and potential target
companies.
Monitoring and structural analysis of the portfolio
Portfolio monitoring is handled by three Investment Directors,
each of whom analyses three companies. Analysts are also
assigned to speciﬁc companies, meaning that each company is
monitored by both an Investment Director and an Analyst (the
responsibilities are indicated on Solidium’s website). Solidium
monitors the companies’ ﬁnancial and other information and
maintains a ﬁnancial statement analysis model for each company. Solidium aims to formulate its own view of the situation
and future of each of its portfolio companies.
Solidium occasionally launches projects focusing on
special issues concerning the companies, such as participation
in a share issue or a merger or in other matters concerning
shareholders. If required by the nature of the project, Solidium
maintains a project-speciﬁc insider register until the end of the
project. Project teams consist of the Managing Director, the
Investment Director and Analyst who monitor the company,
and any other Solidium employees required. An outside legal
or ﬁnancial advisor is often hired for projects.

ﬁnancial period on 30 June and on the mid-period situation on
31 December. Among other things, portfolio reports contain
information on the value of holdings, the overall portfolio
yield and risk trends, and key portfolio ratios. The portfolio
yield is calculated by an independent expert specialising in
yield and risk calculation services.
The company’s Board of Directors is provided with regular
reports on the portfolio status. Details on the development of
the portfolio value, as well as the key yield and risk ratios, are
available on Solidium’s website.
When reporting about itself as a company, Solidium
adheres to the reporting norms required of listed companies,
where applicable.
Shareholder duties in the corporate governance
of listed companies
Solidium complies with the corporate governance principles
in its role as a listed company shareholder. It is a responsible
anchor owner that does not sell its holdings on the basis of
short-term targets. Therefore, Solidium has profound responsibility as owner for the successful and sustainable governance
of companies. Solidium must have good insight into the operations and strategic choices of its portfolio companies in order
to be able to make decisions that create shareholder value.
Solidium works in close cooperation with its portfolio companies and actively exercises its rights as a shareholder.
Solidium is:
ʸ the biggest shareholder in seven companies: Elisa, Metso,
Outokumpu, Rautaruukki, Sampo, Sponda, and Stora Enso
(measured by the number of shares)
ʸ the second biggest shareholder in two companies: Kemira
and TeliaSonera
Being a signiﬁcant owner, Solidium is responsible of introducing certain initiatives on behalf of the shareholders, such as
making proposals to the general meeting on the nomination
of board members and the nomination committee. Solidium
maintains continuous contacts with other important shareholders.
To carry out active ownership, Solidium participates in the
work of nomination committees and in shareholder meetings.
From 1 May to 30 June 2009, Solidium was involved in the
activities of nomination committees in Kemira, Stora Enso, and
TeliaSonera.

Portfolio reporting
Solidium releases public reports on the development of its
portfolio twice a year: on the situation at the end of the
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Solidium’s equity portfolio
In 2009, the global economy has suffered from a recession following
a steep drop in demand. The economic slump that started in late 2008
led to a worldwide collapse in share prices.

SOLIDIUM’S EQUITY PORTFOLIO
At the end of the period, Solidium’s
equity portfolio contained shares of
nine listed companies. The portfolio’s
market value amounted to EUR 6.0
billion on 30 June 2009, the biggest
holdings being in TeliaSonera, Sampo,
and Rautaruukki.
Since the transfer of the previously
state-owned shares (on 11 December
2008), the value of the transferred
shares has risen by EUR 397 million
from the original EUR 5.4 billion. Moreover, the portfolio was increased by
Elisa Corporation’s shares, transferred
as a contribution in kind on 11 June
2009, as well as by an additional
625,000 Elisa shares, which Solidium
purchased on the stock exchange. The
value of these additions totalled EUR
183.3 million. Overall, the value of Elisa
shares in the portfolio rose by EUR 11.8
million from 11 to 30 June 2009.
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Solidium received a total of EUR 285 million in
dividends in spring 2009. Solidium’s portfolio did
not include Elisa Corporation during the spring
2009 dividend distribution. Stora Enso made
capital repayments for the 2008 ﬁnancial period
in autumn 2009, and Solidium’s share of these
was EUR 19.4 million.
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Solidium’s portfolio yield includes dividends
received, other capital transactions, and shareissue adjustments. The values prior to 11 December
2008 illustrate yield during the time when the
shares in Solidium’s portfolio were in direct State
ownership.

TeliaSonera AB (38.1%)
Sampo plc A (17.8%)
Rautaruukki Corporation K (13.2%)
Outokumpu Oyj (11.6%)
Stora Enso Oyj (7.0%)
Metso Corporation (3.5%)
Elisa Corporation (3.3%)
Sponda Plc (3.2%)



















PORTFOLIO WEIGHTS

Kemira Oyj (2.3%)
Capital development includes additional investments made, share disposals and dividends. The
values prior to 11 December 2008 illustrate the
value of holdings during the time that the shares
in Solidium’s portfolio were in direct State ownership.
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HELSINKI STOCK EXCHANGE
IN EARLY 2009
The Helsinki Stock Exchange had a
market value of EUR 124 billion at the
end of June 2009.
A year before, the market value
was EUR 183 billion, translating to

a year-to-year drop of 34%. The weightcapped OMX Helsinki Cap index saw
an annual decrease of 28.4%.
Seeing as the market value of the
stock exchange was EUR 116 billion at
the beginning of 2009, market values
have risen by 7% in the ﬁrst half of the
year. The OMX Helsinki Cap index rose
15% in the same period. The past 12
months have been characterised by
dramatic changes in the value of equities.





CAPITAL MARKETS IN EARLY 2009
Share prices began to pick up in March
2009, but they still lag clearly behind
the prices of early autumn 2008. While
cautious forecasts have been made of
the economy’s revival, the general economic environment remains challenging
to businesses. Share prices involve
uncertainties, and the development of
stock exchanges in the latter part of
2009 will probably be inﬂuenced by
the performance forecasts of companies’ management, as well as the recovery signals in different sectors.
The problems in the ﬁnancial system reduced the ﬁnancing available to
companies. In early 2009, Finnish companies successfully issued more bonds
than they had in previous years, thus
stabilising their ﬁnancial base. The margins that companies paid for ﬁnancing
also dropped somewhat from the
heights recorded in the early part of the
year. The ﬁnancing opportunities of
banks improved as summer drew near,
but the expected credit losses continued to create uncertainty in the bank
lending market.

Solidium’s dividends in spring 2009
totalled EUR 285 million, the biggest
coming from TeliaSonera (EUR 102 million) and Rautaruukki (EUR 75 million).
The portfolio yield was 15.2% in
the ﬁrst half of 2009. The biggest share
yields were obtained from Metso (70%)
and Outokumpu (57%). Their value,
however, had decreased considerably
from 2008 levels, and none of the portfolio’s shares had achieved the 2008
price levels by the end of June 2009.

SOLIDIUM’S PORTFOLIO

KEY PORTFOLIO RATIOS, 30 JUNE 2009
1 month

6 months

p.a.

12 months

2 years

-2.8
-2.7
-

15.2
15.1
40.2
0.8
-

15.2
15.1
-

-28.2
-28.4
44.2
-0.7
1.0
0.7
10.9
0.0

-26.0
-25.5
36.8
-0.8
1.0
0.3
11.3
0.0

Yield, %
Yield of OMX Helsinki Cap benchmark index, %
Volatility, %
Sharpe ratio
Beta
Alfa, %
Tracking error, %
Information ratio

HOLDINGS, 30 JUNE 2009
Company
TeliaSonera AB
Sampo plc A
Rautaruukki Corporation K
Outokumpu Oyj
Stora Enso Oyj
Stora Enso Oyj A*
Stora Enso Oyj R*
Metso Corporation
Elisa Corporation
Sponda Plc
Kemira Oyj

Number of
Solidium’s shares

Proportion of the company’s
share capital

Proportion of the company’s
voting power

616 128 221
79 280 080
55 656 699
56 440 597
97 079 438
55 595 937
41 483 501
15 695 287
16 631 000
95 163 745
20 656 500

13.7%
14.1%
39.7%
31.0%
12.3%
31.4%
6.8%
11.1%
10.0%
34.3%
16.5%

13.7%
14.0%
39.7%
31.0%
25.1%
31.4%
6.8%
11.1%
10.0%
34.3%
16.5%

* Proportion of overall volume of share series.

PORTFOLIO EVENTS, 11 DECEMBER 2008–30 JUNE 2009
Contribution in kind,
11 December 2008
Kemira
Metso
Outokumpu
Rautaruukki
Sampo A
Sponda
Stora Enso
Stora Enso A
Stora Enso R
TeliaSonera
Total
Increase in Elisa shares, June 2009
Elisa shares as contribution in kind
Shares purchased on stock
exchange

Sponda share issue with
pre emptive right, June 2009
Sponda shares from share issue

Number of shares

Share price, €

Total value, €

Cost of acquisition, €

20 656 500
15 695 287
56 440 597
55 656 699
79 280 080
38 065 498
97 079 438
55 595 937
41 483 501
616 128 221

6.14
8.80
7.95
12.01
13.20
2.60

126 830 910
138 118 526
448 702 746
668 436 955
1 046 497 056
98 970 295

128 860 205
140 328 422
455 881 990
679 131 946
1 063 241 009
100 553 820

6.07
5.85
3.53

337 467 338
242 678 481
2 174 932 620
5 282 634 926

342 866 815
246 561 338
2 174 932 620
5 332 358 164

16 006 000

10.84

173 505 040

176 281 121

625 000

11.21

7 003 941
180 508 981

7 017 949
183 299 070

57 098 247

1.25

71 372 808.75

71 372 808.75

Cost of acquisition includes the asset transfer tax in the case of domestic shares or the transaction expenses in the case of stock exchange transactions.

PORTFOLIO WEIGHTS, 30 JUNE 2009
Company
TeliaSonera AB
Sampo plc A
Rautaruukki Corporation K
Outokumpu Oyj
Stora Enso Oyj
Stora Enso Oyj A
Stora Enso Oyj R
Metso Corporation
Elisa Corporation
Sponda Plc
Kemira Oyj
Total

Market value
on 30 June 2009, €m
2 285.8
1 066.3
793.1
693.7
418.9
263.0
156.0
208.7
195.1
193.2
140.5
5 995.3

Market value
Weight in portfolio, % on 11 December 2009, €m
38.1%
17.8%
13.2%
11.6%
7.0%

3.5%
3.3%
3.2%
2.3%

2 174.9
1 046.5
668.4
448.7
580.1
337.5
242.7
138.1
99.0
126.8
5 282.6

Weight in portfolio, %
41.2%
19.8%
12.7%
8.5%
11.0%

2.6%
1.9%
2.4%
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SOLIDIUM’S PORTFOLIO

Elisa Corporation
Solidium’s holding: 10.0%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 3.3%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €195 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: not in portfolio at the time
of dividend distribution
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ELISA IN THE FIRST HALF OF 2009
Elisa became Finland’s biggest mobile
network operator in the ﬁrst half of the
year.
The number of mobile subscriptions
exceeded three million after the ﬁrst
quarter. The telecommunications sector
was characterised by very strong price
competition in the ﬁrst half of 2009, as
companies in the ﬁeld aimed to increase
their market share. Elisa’s churn rose to
14.4% during this period.
The company’s ﬁrst-half performance development was positive despite

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Elisa’s medium-term objective is to grow
at a faster rate than the market average.
Growth in Finland is limited by the
decreasing volume of ﬁxed-line subscriptions and the high number of
mobile phones and subscriptions per
capita. Medium-to-long-term growth
can be achieved especially by developing service operations.
The company has a robust ﬁnancial
position and generates good results.
Assuming that the market situation
remains essentially unchanged and no
potential mergers or acquisitions arise,
Elisa’s gearing will fall below the longterm target level in 2009, putting the
company in a good position to pay
dividends.



























the challenging business environment.
Although its turnover decreased by
some 4%, the operating proﬁt margin
rose more than three percentage points
year-on-year to 18%. Turnover dropped
in the ﬁrst half due to lower interconnection fees, roaming income, and
equipment sales. Proﬁtability improved,
thanks to eﬃciency improvement measures. Operating expenses decreased by
EUR 51 million.
Cash ﬂow after investments was up
8% year-on-year, amounting to EUR 135
million, mainly due to higher proﬁts and
lower commitment of working capital.



OVERVIEW
Elisa is a Finnish mobile and ﬁxed-line
service provider that operates in the
Nordic and Baltic countries, as well as
Russia. The company serves some two
million consumer customers and some
15,000 corporate customers by offering
a wide range of subscriptions and services. Its services are offered under the
Elisa and Saunalahti brands. Elisa aims
to improve the productivity of organisations online and to develop ICT and
online services for consumers and
corporate customers.
The company’s turnover in 2008
was EUR 1.5 billion, 90 per cent of
which was generated in Finland. Elisa
has approximately 3,300 employees.
It engages in global cooperation with
Vodafone and Telenor.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009
Turnover
706
Operating
proﬁt
126
Operating
proﬁt %
17.8
Net proﬁt
84
Return on
equity
Return on
investment
17%
Equity ratio
45%
Gearing
89%
Earnings per
share (EUR)
0.53
Market value
1 951
Employees
3 321
Dividends
Dividend to
Solidium

2008 2007
1 485 1 568
264

302

17.8
177

19.3
220

19%

19%

16%
43%
93%

19%
48%
71%

1.12 1.38
2 046 3 492
3 017 3 015
94
285
0

0

*) **)

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
Proportion
Number of of shares,
shares
%
Solidium Oy
16 631 000
10.0
Elisa Corporation 10 688 629
6.4
Varma
10 151 976
6.1
Ilmarinen
4 557 788
2.7
Op-Delta
mutual fund
3 263 144
2.0
PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Solidium Oy (10.0%)
Elisa Corporation (6.4%)
Varma (6.1%)
Ilmarinen (2.7%)
Op-Delta mutual fund (2.0%)
Others (72.8%)

*) Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period whose ﬁnancial statements have been
used as the basis for dividend payments.
**) Solidium’s portfolio did not include Elisa Corporation shares at the time of dividend distribution
in spring 2009.
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Kemira Oyj
Solidium’s holding: 16.5%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 2.3%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €140 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €5.2 million

17% HOLDING
SOLIDIUM’S

 



 







KEMIRA IN THE FIRST HALF OF 2009
Kemira improved its proﬁtability in the
ﬁrst half despite a decrease in turnover.
The company’s operating proﬁt margin
was 6%, while the turnover declined by
12%. Among other things, the decrease
was caused by the spin-off of the titanium dioxide business and the decrease
in the volume and prices of Tikkurila’s
paint products. The rise in proﬁtability
resulted from successful cost savings
schemes, increased selling prices, and
lower raw material costs.
The operating proﬁt margin of the
Water segment rose to a historic level
(11.3%) in the second quarter. The Paper
segment is suffering with the global
forest industry recession but has managed to keep its turnover and operating
proﬁt at satisfactory levels. Tikkurila’s
performance remained relatively strong,
in view of the challenges facing the

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Kemira’s key objectives include increasing eﬃciency and improving both proﬁtability and cash ﬂow. Solidium believes
that completing the integration of the
Group’s business portfolio and focusing
on core operations offer further opportunities for value increases. The company’s strategic decision to focus on
water treatment also provides good
growth opportunities in the long term.
Kemira must continue to reduce its
gearing ratio, as set out in its objectives.
Adjusting the balance sheet structure to
match the level of the peer group will
improve ﬂexibility and competitiveness.
The company structure offers further
opportunities to increase shareholder
value.



























construction industry. The cost savings
scheme has been fruitful. Turnover
from Oil & Mining decreased markedly
because of the low volumes of customer industries. However, the operating proﬁt increased as a result of lower
variable costs and the impact of the
cost savings scheme.
Cash ﬂow after investments was
good in the ﬁrst half, totalling EUR 50
million, thanks to good results and a
decrease in working capital. The balance
sheet grew stronger, and the equity
ratio – though still relatively low – also
improved.
According to Kemira, the steep
decline in demand has stopped, but the
market has yet to show signs of recovery. With the exception of water chemicals, the volumes and capacity utilisation rates of all segments remained at
historically low levels.



OVERVIEW
Focusing on water and ﬁbre management chemicals, Kemira offers a wide
range of products related to ﬁbre chemistry, chemical water treatment and
water separation technology. Kemira has
three segments which specialise in
water and ﬁbre treatment chemistry:
Paper, Water, and Oil & Mining. Kemira’s
paint business is handled by Tikkurila
Oy, which the Group plans to list when
the market situation becomes favourable.
Kemira’s turnover in 2008 was
some EUR 2.8 billion, and its operating
proﬁt, excluding non-recurring items,
amounted to EUR 133 million. In mid2009, the Group employed around
9,100 people, in 40 countries.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009
Turnover
1 260
Operating
proﬁt
80
Operating
proﬁt %
6.3
Net proﬁt
36
Return on
equity
Return on
investment
Equity ratio
35%
Gearing
104%
Earnings per
share (EUR)
0.28
Market value
850
Employees
9 139
Dividends
Dividend to
Solidium

2008
2 833

2007
2 810

133

175

4.7
35

6.2
91

3%

9%

7%
34%
108%

10%
39%
92%

0.29
0.75
743 1 801
9 405 10 007
30
61
5

10

Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
Proportion
Number of of shares,
shares
%
Oras Invest Ltd
20 707 020
16.6
Solidium Oy
20 656 500
16.5
Varma
12 148 669
9.7
Ilmarinen
7 322 796
5.9
Kemira Oyj
3 854 771
3.1

PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Oras Invest Ltd (16.6%)
Solidium Oy (16.5%)
Varma (9.7%)
Ilmarinen (5.9%)
Kemira Oyj (3.1%)
Others (48.2%)
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Metso Corporation
Solidium’s holding: 11.1%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 3.5%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €209 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €11.0 million

11% HOLDING
SOLIDIUM’S

 



 







METSO IN THE FIRST HALF OF 2009
In the ﬁrst half, Metso’s order intake
dropped 40% year-on-year, totalling
EUR 1,962 million. However, the company expects its full-year turnover to
exceed EUR 5 billion. The three biggest
countries in the second quarter, in terms
of orders received, were China, the USA,
and Finland.
Proﬁtability suffered from a
decrease in market prices and high
inventory prices carried over from the
previous year, as well as a low utilisation rate of production capacity.
The demand for Metso’s services
remained stable in the ﬁrst half of the
year. The turnover of the service business declined 7% year-on-year, amounting to EUR 1,029 million, which accounts
for 42% of Metso’s turnover.
Metso’s order book after the ﬁrst
six months totalled EUR 3,512 million,
or 14% less than at the end of 2008.
According to the company, this ﬁgure
includes projects worth some EUR 800
million, whose schedules involve uncertainties and will be delivered after
2009. Cancellations of previously
received orders amounted to EUR 260

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Metso’s paper and ﬁbre technology
segments face the challenge of scaling
operations to a proﬁtable level and
taking advantage of global cost-effectiveness opportunities as the customer
base continues to move toward Asia.
Energy and environmental technology
offers interesting opportunities – especially as a result of growth in the renewable energy production. The customer
demand for mining and construction
technology lies on a solid foundation,
since there is a continuing need for new
infrastructure and replacement of old
constructions.
Metso’s ongoing transformation
from equipment supplier to service
provider enables the company to establish a lead over its competitors. The
service business is expected to increasingly target developing countries, following the growth in new equipment
investments.
Key factors for a turnaround in the
demand for Metso’s products include
the trend in raw material prices and the
impact of national stimulus packages,
especially within land and infrastructure
construction. Improved proﬁtability and
stronger cash ﬂows are necessary in the
short term in order to secure the company’s competitiveness.






























million in the ﬁrst half of the year.
The demand for paper and board lines
showed signs of recovery in China in
the second quarter.
Metso released EUR 135 million of
working capital in the ﬁrst six months.
The company aims to release a minimum of EUR 200 million in working
capital during 2009. Successful ﬁnancing operations boosted the company’s
ﬁnancial position in the early part of
the year.



OVERVIEW
Metso supplies sustainable technologies
and services to the mining, construction,
power generation, metal recycling, and
pulp and paper industries. The corporation operates in more than 50 countries
and employs around 28,000 people
around the world. Metso’s turnover last
year was EUR 6.4 billion.
Metso Corporation has three
reporting segments: Mining and Construction Technology, Energy and Environmental Technology and Paper and
Fibre Technology. Service operations are
estimated to account for more than a
third of Metso’s turnover and over half
of its proﬁts.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009 2008 2007
Turnover
2 467 6 400 6 250
Operating
proﬁt
125
629
599
Operating
proﬁt %
5.1
9.8
9.6
Net proﬁt
63
384
398
Return on
equity
9%
25%
26%
Return on
investment
9%
23%
26%
Equity ratio
32%
29%
35%
Gearing
70%
77%
34%
Earnings per
2.82
share (EUR)
0.44
2.71
Market value
1 885 1 207 5 282
Employees
28 414 28 010 26 269
Dividends
100
425
Dividend to
Solidium
11
47
Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
ProporNumber of
tion of
shares shares, %
Solidium Oy
15 695 287
11.1
Varma
3 520 204
2.5
Ilmarinen
3 127 621
2.2
State Pension Fund 1 910 000
1.4
Society of Swedish
Literature in Finland
922 495
0.7
PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Solidium Oy (11.1%)
Varma (2.5%)
Ilmarinen (2.2%)
State Pension Fund (1.4%)
Society of Swedish Literature
in Finland (0.7%)
Others (82.1%)
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Solidium’s holding: 31.0%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 11.6%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €694 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €28.2 million

31% HOLDING
SOLIDIUM’S

 









OUTOKUMPU IN THE FIRST HALF
OF 2009
Outokumpu’s ﬁrst-half turnover
plunged from the previous year’s EUR
3,238 million to EUR 1,296 million. The
demand for stainless steel was weak,
with Outokumpu’s deliveries in the ﬁrst
six months amounting to 515,000
tonnes (H1/2008: 840,000). Both
distributors and end users of stainless
steel reduced their inventories, meaning
that the low order volume does not
accurately depict the trend in base
demand at the moment. The reduction
of inventories appears to have ended in
the summer months, and the rising price
of nickel has slightly increased the
demand. In Europe, Outokumpu’s main
market area, the real demand for stainless steel is predicted to decrease by
26% compared to 2008. The capacity
utilisation rate was around 60% in the
second quarter and is expected to
remain low also in the latter part of the
year. Outokumpu has cut back production in all of its production units.
Over the year, the base price of
stainless steel per tonne fell from EUR
1,307 (Q2/2008) to EUR 1,117
(Q2/2009). It is expected to rise
towards the end of 2009 to approach
the second quarter price level of 2008.

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Stainless steel production is characterised by structural overcapacity, which
leads to low capacity utilisation rates
and poor proﬁtability. If the price gap
between European and Chinese stainless steel widens, European stainless
producers may suffer as Asian players
try to reduce overcapacity through
exports to Europe.
Fluctuating raw material prices,
especially those of nickel, have subjected stainless steel producers to big
swings in demand, since distributors
time their purchases according to price
changes. This has highlighted the importance of owning sales channels. However, setting up own distribution channels requires producers to make big
investments in different market areas.
The demand for stainless steel has
grown clearly more rapidly than the
demand for other metals over the past
25 years. This development is expected
to remain the same in the future, especially if urbanisation continues in
densely populated countries. Urbanisation is strongly correlated with a growing demand for stainless steel products.





























Operating proﬁt, including nonrecurring items, amounted to EUR -343
million (H1/2008: EUR 274 million). It
includes EUR 110 million in inventory
losses related to raw materials. Net
cash ﬂow from operating activities
remained strong, growing from EUR
209 million (H1/2008) to EUR 324
million (H1/2009) due to, for example,
decreasing raw material and product
inventories. Outokumpu’s ﬁnancial
position remained good after the ﬁrst
six months of 2009: its gearing was
37%.



OVERVIEW
Outokumpu is one of Europe’s biggest
stainless steel producers. It has customers around the world in various ﬁelds
using stainless steel, such as domestic
appliances, precision tools, construction,
and transportation industries. Outokumpu operates in some 30 countries
and has around 8,000 employees.
Outokumpu’s headquarters is located in
Espoo, Finland.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009
Turnover
1 296
Operating
proﬁt
-343
Operating
proﬁt %
-26.5
Net proﬁt
-274
Return on
equity
-21%
Return on
investment
-19%
Equity ratio
52%
Gearing
37%
Earnings per
share (EUR)
-1.50
Market value
2 224
Employees
7 985
Dividends
Dividend to
Solidium

2008 2007
5 474 6 913
20

575

0.4
-46

8.3
442

-2%

14%

-1%
52%
51%

12%
57%
37%

-0.59 2.08
1 492 3 820
8 471 8 108
90
216
28

68

Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
ProporNumber of
tion of
shares shares, %
Solidium Oy
56 440 597
31.0
Social Insurance
Institution of
Finland
14 652 666
8.1
Ilmarinen
6 741 927
3.7
Varma
2 844 307
1.6
State Pension Fund 2 531 600
1.4
PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Solidium Oy (31.0%)
Social Insurance Institution of Finland (8.1%)
Ilmarinen (3.7%)
Varma (1.6%)
State Pension Fund (1.4%)
Others (54.97%)
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Solidium’s holding: 39.7%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 13.2%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €793 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €75.1 million






RAUTARUUKKI IN THE FIRST HALF
OF 2009
For Rautaruukki, the ﬁrst six months of
2009 were unproﬁtable. The company
expects its pre-tax results to improve
clearly in the latter part of the year, but
they may still remain in the red. Rautaruukki’s ﬁrst-half proﬁtability suffered
from decreased demand, the low utilisation rate of steel production capacity,
and the reduction at low product prices
of inventories produced when expenses
were high.
Demand was especially weak for
steel products, whose production
dropped over 50% in the ﬁrst half of
2009, amounting to 661 thousand
tonnes (1,352 thousand tonnes in January–June 2008). The capacity utilisation
rate was low, remaining at 50–60%.
Low utilisation had a cost impact of
some EUR 160 million in the ﬁrst six
months. Raahe Works blast furnace 1,
which was restarted in the summer, will

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Rautaruukki is dependent on the market
price of, and demand for, carbon steel,
but also on the demand and solvency of
its customer industries. As a subcontractor, it must meet tough demands for
cost-effectiveness.
The markets and sectors selected by
Rautaruukki are expected to offer new
growth opportunities in the future.
However, Rautaruukki must also succeed in managing a wide production
network that has local operations in
several countries.
























raise the capacity utilisation rate in the
latter part of 2009 and reduce the unit
costs for the steel produced.
Rautaruukki’s eﬃciency enhancement scheme and austerity measures
are expected to generate cost savings of
EUR 80 million this year. The company’s
long-term goal is to permanently
increase its operating proﬁt by EUR 150
million from the level recorded in 2008.
The improvement, based on the company’s eﬃciency enhancement scheme,
is to be achieved by the end of 2011.
Rautaruukki’s proﬁtability outlook
improved in spring 2009: raw material
prices decreased by one-third from
2008 levels as a result of benchmark
negotiations, and the end product prices
in annual sale agreements were successfully raised. Moreover, the restart of the
idle blast furnace will raise the utilisation rate of steel production capacity
and improve cost-effectiveness. However, the overhauls of Raahe Works
blast furnaces 1 and 2 will lead to a
shutdown in 2010, which means that
some of the current production will be
used as inventory while production is at
a standstill.






OVERVIEW
Rautaruukki supplies metal-based components, systems, and comprehensive
deliveries to the construction and
mechanical engineering industries.
The company operates in 26 European
countries. Its biggest customer sectors
encompass industrial and commercial
construction, the lifting, handling, and
transportation equipment industry, as
well as bespoke steel products.
Rautaruukki’s operations are
organised into three divisions: Ruukki
Construction, Ruukki Engineering, and
Ruukki Metals.
Europe is considered the main market area and Rautaruukki’s position in
the Nordic countries is strong. The focus
of long-term growth is on Eastern
Europe, Russia, and Ukraine.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009 2008 2007
Turnover
944 3 851 3 876
Operating
proﬁt
-230
583
634
Operating
proﬁt %
-24.4
15.1 16.4
Net proﬁt
-184
417
456
Return on
equity
-1%
21%
24%
Return on
investment
2%
26% 29%
Equity ratio
64%
66% 70%
Gearing
23%
8%
1%
Earnings per
share (EUR)
-1.33
3.04 3.32
Market value
1 999 1 688 4 113
Employees
13 165 14 953 14 326
Dividends
187
277
Dividend to
Solidium
75
111
Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
ProporNumber of
tion of
shares shares, %
Solidium Oy
55 656 699
39.7
Ilmarinen
4 423 417
3.2
Varma
2 177 322
1.6
Rautaruukki Pension
Fund B division
1 585 455
1.1
Esa Rannila
1 457 800
1.0
PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Solidium Oy (39.7%)
Ilmarinen (3.2%)
Varma (1.6%)
Rautaruukki Pension Fund
B division (1.1%)
Esa Rannila (1.0%)
Others (53.4%)
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SOLIDIUM’S
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Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 17.8%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €1,066 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €63.4 million

 



 







SAMPO IN THE FIRST HALF OF 2009
The general state of the economy has
no major impact on the premium
income of If’s property and casualty
operations. In the ﬁrst half of 2009,
Sampo Group’s premium income
totalled EUR 2,506 million and its proﬁt
before taxes amounted to EUR 433
million. The proﬁt includes a dividend of
EUR 80 million received from Nordea in
April and is slightly up on the previous
year’s ﬁgure.
Earnings per share, including the
change in fair value reserve, were EUR
3.33 (H1/2008: EUR –0.90). Excluding
the change in fair value reserve, EPS
came to EUR 0.61 (H1/2008: EUR 0.60).
Net asset value per share rose from

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
P&C operations make up a signiﬁcant
share of Sampo’s market value. If has a
strong market position in the Nordic
countries, with the exception of Denmark. The stable development of the
P&C business adds to its weight in value
creation at a time when other businesses are experiencing big ﬂuctuations
in proﬁtability.
As a result of Sampo becoming a
major owner in Nordea, the largest
Nordic bank, general development in
the banking sector now plays a greater
role in Sampo’s valuation. Should Sampo’s holding in Nordea rise to 20%, the
holding will be included in Sampo’s
ﬁnancial statements using the equity
method, which will reduce ﬂuctuations
in Sampo’s net income.
The premium income of Mandatum
Life has increased rapidly this year,
thanks to an increased service offering.
The non-competition obligation that
expires in spring 2010 (related to the
divestment of Sampo Bank) will enable
the Group to offer increasingly versatile
investment services to customers.











































EUR 8.28 at the beginning of the year to
EUR 10.87 (on 30 June 2009) but
remained EUR 0.49 lower year-on-year.
The proﬁt before taxes from P&C
operations was EUR 308 million, while
the combined ratio stood at 94.1%. The
proﬁt before taxes from life insurance
operations was down to EUR 52 million.
At the time of the release of its
second-quarter interim report (on 12
August 2009), Sampo had raised its
holding in Nordea to 18.5%, up from
12.2% at the beginning of the year. In all,
Sampo has spent approximately EUR
4.6 billion on Nordea shares. Its objective is to acquire a holding in excess of
20% in Nordea by the end of 2009.



OVERVIEW
Sampo Group’s operations are divided
into two main business areas. If P&C
Insurance Company is the leading property and casualty insurance company in
the Nordic countries. It also operates in
the Baltic states and Russia. The P&C
insurance group’s parent company, If
P&C Insurance Holding Ltd, is based in
Sweden. Mandatum Life, specialising in
life insurance operations and asset
management under an insurance wrapper, operates in Finland and the Baltic
countries.
The Group’s parent company,
Sampo plc, owns and administers its
subsidiaries engaged in insurance operations. It also manages a signiﬁcant
investment portfolio, following the
divestment of the Sampo Bank Group,
which includes, for example, some 19.5%
stake in Nordea Bank AB (as of 27
August 2009). At the end of June 2009,
Sampo Group’s investment portfolio
totalled some 18.9 billion euros. The
Group has approximately 7,400
employees.

  !

       
        

KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009
Premium
income
2 506
Pre-tax proﬁt
433
Net proﬁt
345
Earnings per
share (EUR)
0.61
Net asset value
per share (EUR)
10.87
Return on
assets
20%
Return on
equity
70%
Market value
7 550
Employees
7 436
Dividends
Dividend to
Solidium

2008

2007

4 350
870
675

4 458
974
3 573

1.18

1.25

8.28

13.49

-7%

12%

-32%
53%
7 433 10 382
7 145 6 855
449
694
63

95

Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
Proportion
Number of of shares,
shares
%
Solidium Oy
79 280 080
14.1
Varma
47 709 421
8.5
Ilmarinen
17 009 324
3.0
Björn Wahlroos 11 752 469
2.1
Kaleva
6 127 855
1.1

PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Solidium Oy (14.0%)
Varma (8.4%)
Ilmarinen (3.0%)
Björn Wahlroos (2.1%)
Kaleva (1.9%)
Others (70.6%)
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Chairman of
the Board:
Lauri Ratia
CEO:
Kari Inkinen
Kari Inkinen

SOLIDIUM’S PORTFOLIO

Sponda Plc

34% HOLDING
SOLIDIUM’S

 

Solidium’s holding: 34.3%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 3.2%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €193 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €0 million



 




























SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Real estate investment is a post-cyclic
sector, and the economic situation
affects the value development of property. General economic uncertainty and
the poor predictability of economic
development are dampening the interest of companies in changing premises
or renting new facilities for the time
being.
Sponda has considerable needs for
reﬁnancing in 2011 and 2012, but the
proceeds from the company’s share
issue provide it with room for business
manoeuvres. Sponda’s capital structure
is well in line with other companies’ in
the sector. Some of its biggest lessees
are entities with high capital adequacy,
and the average length of leases is
nearly ﬁve years, which protects the
company’s cash ﬂow.




SPONDA IN THE FIRST HALF OF 2009
Business conditions in Sponda’s main
markets – Finland and Russia – were
diﬃcult in the ﬁrst six months of the
year. The economic occupancy rate of
the company’s property portfolio was
88.4% at the end of the period, which
translated to a 3% year-over-year
decrease. Among other things, the drop
in occupancy rates resulted from the
low rental demand for property in
Vuosaari Harbour due to the weak
economy in general. According to the
company, some 75,000 square metres
of new oﬃce premises will be completed in the Helsinki metropolitan area
this year, which will further weaken the
occupancy rates of oﬃce spaces in
2009.
The fair value of investment properties totalled EUR 2.8 billion at the end





of the period. In the ﬁrst quarter, the
company recognised valuation losses on
its property of EUR 117 million. Most of
these resulted from changes in real
estate yield requirements. In the second
quarter, the valuation losses of property
amounted to EUR 12 million.
Sponda boosted its ﬁnancial position in the ﬁrst half by a rights issue,
which raised EUR 208 million from
investors. The proceeds from the issue
strengthened the company’s balance
sheet by increasing the share of equity
in the company’s capital structure.
According to Sponda, the property
market expects rents and occupancy
rates to decrease in 2009. However, the
company believes its net operating
income will rise from 2008’s level as a
result of the previously completed and
leased new sites, which will not appear
in full in the company’s income until
2009.



OVERVIEW
Sponda Plc is a real estate investment
company that specialises in commercial
properties. The company operates in the
Helsinki metropolitan area and other
large Finnish cities, as well as in St.
Petersburg and Moscow, Russia.
The leasable area of Sponda’s
investment properties is around 1.5
million square metres, consisting of
oﬃce and retail premises and logistics
properties. The fair value of the properties is some EUR 2.8 billion.
Oﬃce and retail premises accounted
for 69%, logistics premises for 16%, real
estate funds for 6%, and Russian and
Baltic operations for 9% of the company’s net rental income in the ﬁrst half
of 2009.
The company has four business
units: Investment Properties, Property
Development, Real Estate Funds, and
Russia.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million
1–6/2009
Turnover
122
Operating
proﬁt
-50
Net proﬁt
-82
Return on
investment
Return on
equity
Equity ratio
37%
Gearing
144%
Earnings per
share (EUR)
-0.45
Net assets per
share (EUR)
3.54
Market value
563
Employees
135
Dividends
Dividend to
Solidium

2008
224

2007
211

126
27

257
137

5%

10%

3% 18%
32% 32%
181% 175%
0.24

0.79

4.93
344
137
0

5.24
907
219
56

0
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Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
ProporNumber of
tion of
shares shares, %
Solidium Oy
95 163 745
34.3
Julius Tallberg Real
Estate Corporation 13 373 251
4.8
Ilmarinen
12 052 730
4.3
Mandatum Life
2 910 257
1.1
Alfred Berg Finland
Investment Fund
1 998 320
0.7
PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Solidium Oy (34.3%)
Julius Tallberg Real Estate
Corporation (4.8%)
Ilmarinen (4.3%)
Mandatum Life (1.1%)
Alfred Berg Finland
Investment Fund (0.7%)
Others (54.8%)
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Chairman of
the Board:
Claes Dahlbäck
CEO:
Jouko Karvinen
Jouko Karvinen

SOLIDIUM’S PORTFOLIO

Stora Enso Oyj
Solidium’s holding: 12.3% (25.1% of votes)
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 7.0%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €419 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €0 (capital repayment: €19.4 million)

12% HOLDING
SOLIDIUM’S

 



 







STORA ENSO IN THE FIRST HALF
OF 2009
Stora Enso had a challenging ﬁrst half
of the year as a result of the sharp
decline in the demand for forest industry products. The company announced
and implemented signiﬁcant reorganisation programmes and production curtailments, which led to the Group’s
production capacity decreasing by
nearly one-fourth from 2008.
The ﬁrst-half turnover dropped 24%
and volumes 17% year-over-year. Operating proﬁt, excluding non-recurring
items and impairments, was slightly
positive (EUR 51 million) and clearly
lower than in the year before. The big
write-downs on the reﬁnancing of NewPage and the minority interest (19.9%)
in the company weighed on the
reported results, pushing them into
the red.
Proﬁtability also suffered from
lower sales volumes, exchange rate
differences, and lower pulp and wood
product prices. However, it was boosted
by a drop in ﬁxed costs and lower wood
raw material expenses.
As for the Group’s business areas,
only the units producing consumer
packaging and newsprint reported
clearly positive results (with operating

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
Solidium believes that Stora Enso’s
ﬁbre-based packaging strategy will
make the company more competitive
in the long term. Furthermore, the
company’s investments in plantations
in South America and China boost
its access to raw materials and help
the company to maintain its competitiveness.
In Solidium’s opinion, Stora Enso’s
reorganisation and capacity reduction
measures must be implemented with all
interest groups taken responsibly into
consideration. Reorganisation will enable current operations to be run as
extensively as possible also in Finland.

























proﬁt of 9.0% and 9.5%, respectively).
Wood products and ﬁne paper saw the
biggest losses.
In view of the challenging environment, the company’s cash ﬂow from
operating activities was very strong
(EUR 453 million). The main contributing factors were the company’s cost
savings programme, the low level of
investments, and the eﬃcient management of working capital.
Stora Enso’s net debt decreased
slightly in the ﬁrst half of 2009, and the
equity ratio improved, standing at 47%
at the end of the ﬁnancial period.
In the past two years, Stora Enso
has managed to lower its cost level by
4–5 margin percentage points. It aims at
a further improvement of 2–3 percentage points by the end of 2010. In April,
Stora Enso announced a 250-millioneuro cost reduction programme called
Next Step. In August, the company
revealed its plans to close and divest
several of its units in Finland. The measures would improve operating proﬁt by
an annual EUR 140–160 million from
the beginning of 2011 onwards.



OVERVIEW
Stora Enso is a forest industry company
whose main products are newsprint and
book paper, magazine and ﬁne paper,
consumer board, industrial packaging,
and wood products. The Group employs
around 29,000 people and runs 85
mills and production plants, in more
than 35 countries. Stora Enso’s customers include publishers, printing houses,
and paper merchants, as well as the
packaging, joinery, and construction
industries.
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KEY INDICATORS
EUR million

1–6/2009

Turnover
Operating proﬁt
Operating proﬁt %
Operating proﬁt %
Return on equity
Return on investment
Equity ratio
Gearing
Earnings per share
(EUR)
Market value
Employees
Dividends
Dividend to
Solidium

2008

2007

4 315 11 029 11 849
-210
388
861
-4.9
3.5
7.3
-404
143
747
-14%
2%
10%
47%
53%

4%
46%
60%

8%
50%
42%

0.94
-0.51
0.18
3 141
4 378 8 076
29 305 33 815 36 137
0
355
0

44

Instead of distributing dividends, the company
made a capital repayment of €0.20 per share in
August 2009. This totalled EUR 158 million, of
which Solidium’s share was EUR 19.4 million.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
Number
of shares,
A series
Solidium Oy
Foundation
Asset
Management
Social
Insurance
Institution
of Finland
Ilmarinen
Varma

ProporNumber tion of
of shares, shares,
R series
%

55 595 937 41 483 501

12.3

63 123 386 17 000 000

10.1

23 825 086 2 775 965
3 492 740 16 744 108
15 572 117
140 874

3.4
2.6
2.0

PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
Foundation Asset Management (27.2%)
Solidium Oy (25.1%)
Social Insurance Institution
of Finland (10.1%)
Varma (6.5%)
Ilmarinen (2.2%)
Others (28.9%)
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Chairman of
the Board:
Tom von Weymarn
CEO:
Lars Nyberg
Lars Nyberg

SOLIDIUM’S PORTFOLIO

TeliaSonera AB
Solidium’s holding: 13.7%
Weight in Solidium’s portfolio: 38.1%
Market value of holding (30 June 2009): €2,286 million
Dividend to Solidium in 2009: €102.0 million

14% HOLDING
SOLIDIUM’S

 



 








TELIASONERA IN THE FIRST HALF
OF 2009
The challenging macroeconomic operating environment has affected the telecom services sector less than other
sectors. Nevertheless, TeliaSonera’s
market areas are showing signs of
changing customer behaviour: equipment sales are down, decreased business travel has reduced roaming, and
services are used less than they were
before. In the ﬁrst half of the year, the
number of TeliaSonera’s subscriptions
(including those of associates) increased
by more than 4.6 million, to total nearly
140 million.
Owing to the weaker Swedish krona,
TeliaSonera’s ﬁrst-half turnover rose by
10% year-over-year and amounted to
SEK 54,682 million. In local currencies,
however, turnover remained at the
previous year’s level. In terms of
EBITDA, proﬁtability rose from 31.7% to
32.7%. This was brought about via reorganisation measures carried out in Sweden and Finland, as well as good and

SOLIDIUM’S VIEW
TeliaSonera’s proﬁtability is likely to be
affected by price pressure caused by
authorities’ regulations, as well as continued intense competition in both the
long and short term. This means that
cost-effectiveness will continue to be
crucial in mature markets, which lack
organic growth. Instead, the Eurasia
business area is likely to remain a
source of growth for TeliaSonera, and
its proﬁtability is expected to remain
strong. A solution to the Turkcell disputes would be a positive trigger.
As a result of the increasing use of
data services and decreasing revenues
from voice services, data is likely to
account for a larger share of the average revenue per user in the future.
Meanwhile, the increasing use of data
services will make it necessary to consider and make investments in the introduction of technologies that enable
higher bandwidth.

































stable proﬁtability in the Eurasia business area.
At SEK 1.98, earnings per share were
slightly up year-over-year in the ﬁrst
half of 2009. Thanks to improved profitability and more eﬃcient use of capital, free cash ﬂow more than doubled in
comparison to the previous year and
totalled SEK 7.8 billion. TeliaSonera has
scheduled many of its 2009 investments for the latter part of the year,
and investments in the second half are
expected to be greater than those in
the ﬁrst half (11.1% of turnover).



OVERVIEW
TeliaSonera is the biggest provider of
telecommunications services in the
Nordic and Baltic countries. It also operates in the Eastern European and Asian
mobile communications markets and in
Spain. In all, the company operates in
20 countries, with a total of 450 million
inhabitants. TeliaSonera’s main products
are mobile and ﬁxed-network services.
Its headquarters is located in Stockholm, Sweden. TeliaSonera has approximately 30,000 employees overall.

 "
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KEY INDICATORS
SEK million
1–6/2009
2008 2007
Turnover
54 682 103 585 96 344
Operating
proﬁt
14 715 30 041 27 478
Operating
proﬁt %
26.9
29.0
28.5
Net proﬁt
8 909 19 827 18 653
Return on
equity
17%
16%
14%
Return on
investment
17%
17%
18%
Equity ratio
52%
54%
59%
Gearing
37%
37%
27%
Earnings per
share (SEK)
1.98
4.42
4.15
Market value 181 864 174 679 271 673
Employees
30 918 30 037 28 561
Dividends
8 083 17 962
Dividend to
Solidium
1 109 2 465
Dividends are indicated under the ﬁnancial period
whose ﬁnancial statements have been used as
the basis for dividend payments.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 30 JUNE 2009
Proportion
Number of of shares,
shares
%
The Swedish
state
1 674 310 553
37.3
Solidium Oy
616 128 221
13.7
Swedbank Robur
Funds
160 384 842
3.6
Alecta
102 550 000
2.3
SEB Funds
77 405 838
1.7
PROPORTIONS OF VOTES
The Swedish state (37.3%)
Solidium Oy (13.7%)
Swedbank Robur Funds (3.6%)
Alecta (2.3%)
SEB Funds (1.7%)
Others (41.4%)
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Board of Directors
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PERSONNEL

1. KEIJO SUILA, Chairman
born 1945, MSc (Econ.), Vuorineuvos (Finnish honorary title)
1999–2005: Finnair Plc, President and CEO; 1992–1998: Huhtamäki Oyj, Deputy Managing
Director; 1988–1998: Leaf Corporation, Managing Director; 2008–present: Finnish Fair
Corporation, Chairman of the Board; 2006–present: Nokia Corporation, board member;
2001–2009: Kesko Corporation, board member (2006–2009 Vice Chairman of the Board);
2000–2006: Elisa Corporation, Chairman
2. EIJA AILASMAA, Vice Chairman
born 1950, MA (Soc. Sc.)
2003–present: Sanoma Magazines B.V., President & CEO; 2001–2003: Sanoma Magazines
Finland Oy, CEO; 2000–2001: Helsinki Media Oy, CEO; 2004–present: Huhtamäki Oyj,
board member
3. JOUNI HAKALA
born 1961, LL.M, MBA
2008–present: Finnish Industry Investment Ltd, Fund Director, board member;
2007–2008: Special adviser to Minister, state ownership steering department;
2005–2007: European Investment Fund, Deputy Head of Equity Investments;
2003–2005: European Investment Fund, Adviser to Vice President
4. ANTTI HERLIN
born 1956, DSc (Econ.) h.c., Doctor of Arts h.c.
2003–present: Kone Corporation, Chairman of the Board; 1996–2006: Kone Corporation,
President & CEO; 1996–2003: Kone Corporation, Vice Chairman of the Board;
1991–present: Kone Corporation, board member; 2007–2008: Confederation of Finnish
Industries, Chairman; 2005–2006: Federation of Finnish Technology Industries, Chairman;
1996–present: Federation of Finnish Technology Industries, board member;
2004–present: YIT, board member, 2004–present: Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance
Company, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
5. LAURI IHALAINEN
born 1947, Minister
1990–2009: Central Organisation of Finnish Trade Unions, President; 1970–1990: Central
Organisation of Finnish Trade Unions; 1988–2009: Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance
Company, Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors; 2009–present: VR Group Ltd,
board member

Management
Managing Director
KARI A. J. JÄRVINEN
born 1962, MSc (Eng.) 1988,
MBA 1992
2003–2007 Mandatum & Co.,
Managing Director
1995–2003 Mandatum Bank
and Mandatum & Co., Director
1992–1995 McKinsey & Co.,
Consultant
1987–1991 Sanoma Group,
Development Manager

Personnel
At the end of the ﬁnancial period,
Solidium had seven full-time
employees and one temporary
agency worker. Employment
contracts had also been signed
with three other employees, who
started work at Solidium in
August 2009.
The personnel consisted of
the Managing Director, the Chief
Legal Counsel, three Investment
Directors, three Analysts, and
three Assistants.

6. MARKETTA KOKKONEN
born 1946, MA
1995–present: City of Espoo, Mayor; 1992–1995: Vihti municipality, Mayor; 1991–1992:
Savings Banks service companies, Head of Department; 1988–1990: SKOP, Head of
Department; 1986–1987: Finnish Real Estate Bank, Head of Department; 2005–present:
Finnish Consulting Group Oy, board member
7. ANNI VEPSÄLÄINEN
born 1963, MSc (Eng.)
2009–present: Diacor Oy, Managing Director; 2006–2008: HRM Partners Ltd, Managing
Director; 2003–2005: TeliaSonera Finland Oyj, Managing Director; 1987–2003: Sonera
and TeliaSonera, various director’s duties
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Corporate governance
Solidium Oy is a limited company registered and domiciled in Finland. Solidium’s management and administration
comply with Finnish legislation, the
company’s Articles of Association, and
the charter conﬁrmed by the company’s
Board of Directors. Where applicable,
Solidium also complies with the Corporate Governance Code published by
the Securities Market Association in
October 2008.
The responsibility for corporate
governance and operations is held by
the company’s decision-making bodies:
the general meeting, Board of Directors,
and Managing Director.
GENERAL MEETING
As a rule, the general meeting convenes
once a year. In accordance with the Finnish Companies Act, the general meeting
has exclusive decision-making power in
a number of important issues, which
include adopting the ﬁnancial statements, increasing or decreasing share
capital, making amendments to the
Articles of Association, and electing the
Board of Directors and auditors. According to Section 4 of the Solidium Articles
of Association, the general meeting
makes decisions not only on the matters
speciﬁed in the Companies Act but also
on the principles that the company shall
follow when disposing of its assets or
acquiring new shares or other assets
for the company, and determines the
relevant authorisations of the Board of
Directors related thereto, conﬁrms the
principles of good corporate governance
that the company shall comply with in
its role as a shareholder of listed companies, and decides on the company’s
reporting duties and other communication to its owner.
The general meeting is convened by
the company’s Board of Directors. The
owner – the State of Finland – is represented by the Minister responsible for
ownership steering or a representative
appointed by said Minister. This post
was held by Jyri Häkämies in the ﬁnancial period.
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The general meeting elects the
chairperson and other members of
Solidium’s board for a term that lasts
until the end of the ﬁrst general meeting
following the election. Consequently,
each general meeting elects the entire
Board of Directors.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Companies Act,
the operations and administration of the
company are managed under the direction of the Board of Directors. The
Board shall ensure that the company’s
accounting and asset management are
properly organised. The Board’s duties
and responsibilities are determined on
the basis of the Articles of Association,
the Finnish Companies Act, and other
relevant legislation.
The Board of Directors has conﬁrmed a charter that deﬁnes the Board’s
duties and principles of operation. In
particular, the Board shall:
ʸ decide on the company’s business
strategy, within the limits of the
authority granted by the owner
ʸ decide on Solidium’s acquisitions or
disposals and of the restructuring
of companies owned by Solidium,
in the role of shareholder
ʸ approve the company’s annual
budget
ʸ be responsible for the appropriate
organisation of operations
ʸ decide on the capital structure
required by business of the company
ʸ conﬁrm the principles of risk
management
ʸ be responsible for the preparation
of ﬁnancial statements
ʸ supervise the company’s solvency,
proﬁtability, and liquidity
ʸ convene general meetings and
prepare the matters presented to
them
ʸ elect and discharge the company’s
Managing Director and decide on
the terms and conditions of the
employment relationship
ʸ decide on signiﬁcant matters
involving the personnel

According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors consists of
a minimum of three and a maximum of
eight members. A person who has
turned 68 may not be elected to the
Board. The 2008 general meeting
elected seven board members, all of
whom are independent of the company
and its shareholder, the State of
Finland.
After its appointment in December
2008, the Board of Directors had convened eight times by 30 June 2009.
The average attendance rate of members was 93%.
The Board does not have any committees, but it may set up temporary
committees, consisting of board members, for speciﬁc duties. No committees
were set up in the ﬁnancial period.
The 2008 general meeting conﬁrmed the following fees for Solidium’s
Board of Directors:
ʸ Chairman: €5,500 per month,
ʸ Vice Chairman: €3,000 per month,
and
ʸ Members: €2,500 per month.
The fee for members of the Board of
Directors participating in a meeting is
€600 per meeting.
MANAGING DIRECTOR
The Managing Director is responsible
for the managing of the company’s
operations in compliance with the rules
and regulations determined by the
Board. The Managing Director is responsible for preparing the matters to be
decided upon by the Board of Directors,
for developing the company according
to the targets determined in co-operation with the Board, and for ensuring
that the Board’s guidelines and decisions are implemented. The Managing
Director shall provide the Board and its
members with the information needed
for board work. The Managing Director
may adopt measures that are uncommon or far-reaching in view of the size
and quality of the company’s operations

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

only if the Board has granted prior
authorisation for such action.
If the Managing Director’s service
contract is terminated by the company,
the period of notice is nine months. If
the service contract is terminated by the
Managing Director, the period of notice
is six months. If the service contract is
terminated by the company, the Managing Director is entitled to severance
payment equal to the total salary for
12 months, in addition to the pay for the
period of notice. The Managing Director
can retire at the age of 62.
MANAGEMENT, OPERATIONS,
AND ORGANISATION
At the end of the ﬁnancial period,
Solidium had seven full-time employees,
one temporary agency worker, and one
temporary worker. The company had
also signed employment contracts
with three other employees, who
started working at Solidium in August
2009. The personnel consisted of the
Managing Director, Chief Legal Counsel,
three Investment Directors, three
Analysts, and three Assistants.
Solidium’s executive board consists
of the Managing Director, three Investment Directors, and the Chief Legal
Counsel. All employees report directly
to the Managing Director. Each portfolio
company is monitored by an Investment
Director and Analyst, both of whom
report their view of the company to
the Managing Director.
Project groups, led by the Managing
Director, are set up for individual
projects.
The Managing Director is responsible for the portfolio reporting. The
portfolio value and risk are calculated
by an independent external service
provider, who complies with the ﬁnancial sector’s general accounting recommendations.

REMUNERATION
Solidium has adopted a performancerelated bonus system. The fees comply
with the statement made by the Cabinet
Committee on Economic Policy concerning remuneration in state-owned companies.

Solidium’s management model
Finnish Government
Operational framework
Cabinet Committee
on Economic Policy
Minister in charge

Solidium Oy Board of Directors
Operational decisionmaking

Solidium Oy’s management
Preparation of operations

INSIDER MATTERS
Solidium Oy has adopted a policy for
employees’ securities trading, which
apply to all staff. Employees are not
allowed to trade in shares of companies
of which they have insider information.
This applies to companies owned by
Solidium but also to other publicly
listed companies. Separate, non-public
insider registers are maintained on
project-speciﬁc insiders. These projectspeciﬁc registers contain people who in
their duties related to a project have
access to information that has not been
published or is otherwise not available
to the market and which may have
a signiﬁcant impact on the value of
the publicly traded securities of the
relevant company.

Otherwise, Solidium’s employees
may trade in securities with written
permission individually granted for each
transaction. Securities transactions
made by the staff are entered in a nonpublic register maintained by Solidium.
AUDITOR
In accordance with the Articles of Association, Solidium’s auditor must be an
auditing ﬁrm authorised by the Central
Chamber of Commerce. The general
meeting elects the auditor for a term
that lasts until the end of the following
general meeting. The auditor supplies
the owner with an auditor’s report, as
required by legislation, in conjunction
with the preparation of the ﬁnancial
statements. In addition, the auditor
regularly reports its observations on the
company’s management to the Board of
Directors.
For the ﬁnancial period lasting from
1 May to 30 June 2009, Solidium Oy’s
auditor was Tilintarkastus Tuokko Oy,
and the auditor in charge was Timo
Tuokko, Authorised Public Accountant.
Solidium Oy did not purchase other
services, such as consultation, from the
auditing ﬁrm in the ﬁnancial period.
INTERNAL AUDIT
Solidium’s Board of Directors manages
the company’s internal audit. The Board
does not have a permanent audit committee. Solidium’s Managing Director
reports on the company’s ﬁnancial
administration to the Board of Directors.
Solidium’s Chief Legal Counsel acts
as the company’s Compliance Oﬃcer,
reporting on the company’s code of
conduct to the Board of Directors.
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Financial reporting
Report of the Board of Directors for
the period 1 May–30 June 2009
The ﬁnancial period from 1 May to 30 June 2009 was the ﬁrst of Solidium Oy,
a company wholly owned by the State of Finland. Solidium’s predecessor company
was dissolved on 30 April 2009, when, following the company’s demerger, its
assets and liabilities were transferred in their entirety to the receiving companies
– Solidium Oy and Governia Oy – as speciﬁed in the demerger plan.

Solidium Oy owns and manages shares
in companies operating in Finland and
exercises shareholder rights in them
based on its ownership. Solidium invests
in companies that are considered to be
of national importance. The goal of the
company’s activities is to increase shareholder value in the long term and to
make economically sound investments.
At the beginning of the ﬁnancial
period (1 May 2009), Solidium Oy held
shares in eight listed companies: Kemira
Oyj, Metso Corporation, Outokumpu
Oyj, Rautaruukki Corporation, Sampo
plc, Sponda Plc, Stora Enso Oyj, and
TeliaSonera AB. On 11 June 2009, the
State of Finland transferred all of its
16,006,00 Elisa Corporation shares,
which correspond to 9.62% of Elisa’s
share capital, to Solidium Oy as a contribution in kind. The transfer value of the
Elisa shares equalled the closing price in
public trading on 11 June 2009 on the
Helsinki Stock Exchange, i.e.,: EUR 10.84
per share. As a result of the transfer,
Solidium’s shareholders’ equity was
increased by a sum equal to the market
value of the shares, i.e.,: EUR
173,505,040. Following the transfer,
Solidium increased its holding in Elisa
Corporation to 10.0% on 16 June 2009
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by acquiring 625,000 shares in public
trading. Solidium participated in the
EUR 208 million rights issue offered by
Sponda Plc in June 2009 by subscribing
for new shares for its pro rata entitlement with EUR 71 million. Solidium’s
holding in Sponda Plc remained
unchanged at 34.3%.
Solidium Oy’s investments are
equity investments and liquid assets.
At the end of the ﬁnancial period, the
market value of the equity investments
and liquid assets were EUR 6.0 billion
and EUR 153 million, respectively. Equities yielded 1.1% over the period, compared to the 1.6% of the OMX Helsinki
Cap index.
Solidium Oy did not dispose of its
shares in the ﬁnancial period and did
not generate any turnover. Personnel
expenses amounted to EUR 0.3 million.
The biggest items in other operating
expenses (EUR 0.7 million) were advisor
fees and costs for facilities. The operating loss of the company was EUR 1.1
million. Financial income (EUR 0.4 million) mainly consisted of interest
income from liquid assets. The loss for
the period was EUR 0.7 million.
The largest item in Solidium Oy’s
non-current assets is the equity portfo-

lio, with a cost of acquisition totalling
EUR 5.6 billion. At the end of the ﬁnancial period, Solidium Oy’s liquid assets
were EUR 153 million and the balance
sheet total was EUR 5.7 billion. The
period-end equity ratio was 100% and
liquidity was excellent, taking into
account the liquid assets of EUR 153 million and the EUR 100 million commercial paper programme, with no commercial papers outstanding at the end of
the period, on 30 June 2009.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors consists of the
Chairman, Keijo Suila (b. 1945) and the
Vice Chairman, Eija Ailasmaa (b. 1950),
as well as regular members Jouni Hakala
(b. 1961), Antti Herlin (b. 1956), Lauri
Ihalainen (b. 1947), Marketta Kokkonen
(b. 1946), and Anni Vepsäläinen
(b. 1963). All of the Board members are
independent of the company and the
shareholder, the State of Finland. The
Board members do not hold company
shares, and the company has not
adopted any option schemes.
The monthly salary of the Board’s
Chairman is EUR 5,500, that of the Vice
Chairman is EUR 3,000, and that of the
regular members is EUR 2,500, in addi-
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tion to which a meeting fee of EUR 600
is paid per meeting attended. The
monthly and meeting fees paid to the
members of Solidium Oy’s Board of
Directors totalled approximately EUR
52,000. The Board convened twice in
the two-month ﬁnancial period.
Solidium Oy’s Board of Directors
has a written charter. It complements
the Board’s duties as set forth in the
Companies Act and in the Articles of
Association by specifying that Solidium’s
board decides on the company’s business strategy within the limits of the
authority granted by the owner, decides
on share purchases and disposals, and
conﬁrms the principles of risk management. The charter contains procedural
guidelines for meeting preparations,
documentation, and regularly handled
matters. The Board has not set up committees.
Solidium Oy complies with the
Corporate Governance Code for Finnish
listed companies, with certain exceptions due to the nature of the company’s business.
PERSONNEL
The Managing Director of Solidium Oy
is Kari Järvinen, MBA (b. 1962). The
Managing Director does not own company shares or options. The salaries and
performance bonuses paid to the Managing Director totalled EUR 79,816. The
Managing Director has a deﬁned-contribution supplementary pensionand the
Managing Director may retire at the age

of 62. The expenses of the supplementary pension amounted to EUR 32,268.
The Managing Director has a ninemonth period of notice and is entitled
to severance payment equal to the total
salary for 12 months, in addition to the
pay for the period of notice.
Solidium Oy had an average of
seven employees in the ﬁnancial period
and 10 employees at the end of the
period.
ASSESSMENT OF KEY RISKS AND
SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY
The risks to Solidium Oy’s business are
mainly related to investment activities.
At the end of the ﬁnancial period, the
company’s investments consisted of an
equity portfolio with a market value of
EUR 6.0 billion and of liquid assets of
EUR 153 million. All stock acquisitions
and disposals are presented to Solidium
Oy’s Board of Directors for evaluation
and decision-making. Equity investments
involve a considerable price risk. Solidium Oy has not hedged its equity investments. As for liquid assets, the Board of
Directors has approved an investment
policy according to which the company
invests its liquid assets only in bank
deposits and short-term ﬁnancial instruments issued by parties with good
credit worthiness.

PROPOSED DIVIDEND
The distributable assets detailed in the
ﬁnancial statements total EUR
283,358,603. The Board of Directors
proposes that no dividend is to be paid
for the ﬁnancial period.
EVENTS AFTER
THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
No signiﬁcant events have taken place in
the company’s operations since the end
of the ﬁnancial period.
OUTLOOK
Dividend income and proceeds from
possible disposals have a considerable
impact on Solidium Oy’s results. The
company’s next ﬁnancial period is 1 July
2009 to 30 June 2010.

AUDITING
Solidium Oy’s auditor is Tuokko Tilintarkastus Oy, a ﬁrm of Authorised Public
Accountants.
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Income statement
€

Note

TURNOVER

1.5.–30.6.2009
0

Personnel expenses
Depreciation and impairment
Other operating expenses

1
2

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)

-312 499
-534
-748 890
-1 061 923

Financial income and expenses

3

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX

400 856
-661 067

Income tax

0

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

-661 067

Balance sheet
€

Note

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Current receivables
Financial securities
Cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

32

1.5.2009

4
5
6

4 101
9 022
5 587 030 041
5 587 043 164

0
9 414
5 332 358 163
5 332 367 577

7

359 589
75 021 355
77 673 259
153 054 202

508 804
74 698 872
210 277 046
285 484 722

5 740 097 366

5 617 852 299

331 500 000
5 124 639 966
284 019 671
-661 067
5 739 498 570

331 500 000
4 951 134 926
0
284 019 671
5 566 654 597

598 796

51 197 702

5 740 097 366

5 617 852 299

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity
Retained proﬁt (loss)
Proﬁt (loss) for the period
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

30.6.2009

8

9
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Cash ﬂow statement
€

1.5.–30.6.2009

Cash ﬂow from operating activities
Operating proﬁt
Adjustments to operating proﬁt
Financial income and expenses
Tax

-1 061 923
534
400 856
0
-660 534

Change in working capital
Current receivables: increase (–) / decrease (+)
Non-interest-bearing current liabilities: increase (+) / decrease (–)

149 216
115 594
264 810

Cash ﬂow from operating activities

-395 724

Cash ﬂow from investing activities
Investments in tangible and intangible assets
Investments in shares

-4 242
-81 166 838

Cash ﬂow from investing activities

-81 171 080

Cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Current loans: raised (+) / repaid (–)

-50 714 500

Cash ﬂow for the period

-132 281 304

Liquid funds on 1 May 2009
Liquid funds on 30 June 2009
Change in liquid funds

284 975 918
152 694 614
-132 281 304

Liquid funds in the cash ﬂow statement include receivables from banks, commercial papers, certiﬁcates of deposit, and units in mutual funds that invest
in corresponding ﬁnancial instruments.

Key ﬁgures
1.5.–30.6.2009
Operating proﬁt, EUR million
Pre-tax proﬁt, EUR million
Proﬁt for the period, EUR million
Return on equity, %
Return on investment, %
Shareholders’ equity, EUR million
Equity ratio, %
Proposed dividend, EUR million
Average number of employees

-1.1
-0.7
-0.7
0.0
0.0
5 739
100.0
0
7

Calculation of key ﬁgures
Return on equity =

Proﬁt for the period
Shareholders’ equity (average of opening and closing balance)

Return on investment = Pre-tax proﬁt + interest expenses and other ﬁnancial expenses
Balance sheet total – non-interest-bearing liabilities (average of opening and closing balance)
Equity ratio =

Shareholders’ equity
Balance sheet total – prepayments received
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Notes to the ﬁnancial statements
The ﬁnancial statements of Solidium Oy have been prepared
in compliance with the Finnish Accounting Act, Accounting
Ordinance, and Companies Act.
Solidium Oy is domiciled in Helsinki. Copies of Solidium Oy’s
ﬁnancial statements are available at the company’s oﬃce at
Unioninkatu 32 B, 00100 Helsinki.

Valuation of current assets
Current assets are measured at the amount recoverable.
Financial securities are measured at the lower of the cost
of acquisition and market value.
Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been measured at the average rate for the balance
sheet date as conﬁrmed by the European Central Bank.

PRINCIPLES OF VALUATION
Valuation of non-current assets
Tangible and intangible assets are measured at the cost of
acquisition less accumulated depreciation. Planned depreciation of tangible assets corresponds to 25%, the maximum
amount from the residual value as regulated in the tax
legislation.
Investments in non-current assets are recognised at cost
of acquisition. Permanent impairment is deducted from the
cost of acquisition.

PENSIONS
Pensions are recognised in the income statement in the period
to which they apply. The pension provisions for the company’s
personnel are arranged through statutory TyEL insurance. The
Managing Director has a deﬁned-contribution supplementary
pension.
TAX
The tax expense item in the income statement consists of
current tax. It is calculated on the basis of the Finnish tax
rate and adjusted for any taxes related to previous ﬁnancial
periods.

Notes to the income statement
€
1. Personnel expenses
Wages and salaries
Pension costs
Other staff costs
Total

1.5.–30.6.2009

240 420
29 742
42 338
312 499

The Managing Director received a salary
of EUR 53,316 and a performance bonus
of EUR 26,500. The costs of the Managing
Director’s deﬁned-contribution supplementary pension totalled EUR 32,268. Half
(50%) of the performance bonus and
deﬁned-contribution pension costs are
related to the previous ﬁnancial period.
The Board of Directors received EUR 51,700
in monthly and meeting fees.
Average number of employees
Employees at period end
2. Other operating expenses
Administration costs
Costs for facilities
Other
Total
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€
3. Financial income and expenses
Interest income and other ﬁnancial
expenses
From others
Interest and other ﬁnancial expenses
To others
Total ﬁnancial income and expenses

€

7
10

677 891
20 296
50 703
748 890

1.5.–30.6.2009

435 941
-35 086
400 856

30.6.2009

4. Intangible assets
Intangible rights
Cost of acquisition on 1 May 2009
0
Addition
4 242
Cost of acquisition on 30 June 2009
4 242
Accumulated depreciation on 1 May 2009
0
Depreciation for the period
141
Accumulated depreciation on 30 June 2009
141
Disposal
0
Carrying amount on 30 June 2009
4 101

5. Tangible assets
Cost of acquisition on 1 May 2009
Addition
Cost of acquisition on 30 June 2009
Accumulated depreciation on 1 May 2009
Depreciation for the period
Accumulated depreciation on 30 June 2009
Disposal
Carrying amount on 30 June 2009

Machinery and
equipment
9 414
0
9 414
0
392
392
0
9 022
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6. Investments
Other shares and equity on 1 May 2009
Increase
Other shares and equity on 30 June 2009

Share
Elisa
Kemira
Metso
Outokumpu
Rautaruukki K
Sampo A
Sponda
Stora Enso A
Stora Enso R
TeliaSonera
TOTAL

5 332 358 163
254 671 878
5 587 030 041

Number of shares
16 631 000
20 656 500
15 695 287
56 440 597
55 656 699
79 280 080
95 163 745
55 595 937
41 483 501
616 128 221

Holding
10.0%
16.5%
11.1%
31.0%
39.7%
14.1%
34.3%
31.4% *
6.8% *
13.7%

Cost of acquisition
on 30 June 2009
183 299 070
128 860 205
140 328 422
455 881 990
679 131 946
1 063 241 009
171 926 628
342 866 815
246 561 337
2 174 932 620
5 587 030 041

Market value
on 30 June 2009
195 081 630
140 464 200
208 747 317
693 654 937
793 107 961
1 066 317 076
193 182 402
262 968 782
155 977 964
2 285 835 700
5 995 337 969

* Solidium Oy’s holding of all of Stora Enso Oyj’s shares is 12.3% and of all votes 25.1%. The market value of Stora Enso’s shares rose considerably after
30 June 2009, which is why no impairment has been recognised.

€
7. Current receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued
income
Total

€
30.6.2009
3 380

1.5.2009
471 530

356 209
359 589

37 275
508 804

8. Shareholders' equity
Share capital on 1 May 2009
Increase
Share capital on 30 June 2009
Solidium Oy has 2,000
shares. The shares have no
nominal value.
Reserve for invested non
restricted equity on 1 May
2009
Increase
Reserve for invested non-restricted
equity on 30 June 2009
Retained earnings
Loss for the period
Retained earnings
on 30 June 2009
Total shareholders’ equity

331 500 000
0
331 500 000

4 951 134 926
173 505 040

9. Current liabilities
Loans from ﬁnancial
institutions
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Total

30.6.2009

1.5.2009

0
327 266
40 633
230 897
598 796

50 714 500
116 533
78
366 591
51 197 702

10. Other commitments
The company operates in leased facilities, and some of the
oﬃce machinery has been acquired under operational leasing.
Future minimum lease expenses under lease contracts that
cannot be dissolved are distributed in the following way:
Within 12 months
After 12 months but within
ﬁve years
After ﬁve years

178 169
810 427
17 361
1 005 958

5 124 639 966
284 019 671
-661 067

Following the demerger of the predecessor company, also
called Solidium Oy, the company has joint commitment with
Governia Oy. The commitment is based on the statute in
Chapter 17, section 16 of the Companies Act.

283 358 603
5 739 498 570
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Proposal for distribution of proﬁt
The distributable funds recognised in the ﬁnancial statements total EUR 283,358,603. No material changes have taken place
in the company’s ﬁnancial situation since the end of the ﬁnancial period, and the proposed dividend cannot be said to affect
the company’s solvency.

The Board of Directors proposes to the general meeting that the distributable funds be allocated as follows:
- EUR 0 per share distributed as dividend for 2,000 shares
0
- transferred to retained earnings
283 358 603
283 358 603
If the Board’s proposal is approved, the shareholders’ equity of Solidium Oy shall consist of the following:
- share capital
331 500 000
- reserve for invested non-restricted equity
5 124 639 966
- retained earnings
283 358 603
5 739 498 570
Helsinki, 7 September 2009

Keijo Suila
Chairman

Eija Ailasmaa
Vice Chairman

Jouni Hakala

Antti Herlin

Lauri Ihalainen

Marketta Kokkonen

Anni Vepsäläinen

Kari Järvinen
Managing Director

Auditor’s note
An auditor’s report has been issued today on the audit performed.
Helsinki, 7 September 2009
Tuokko Tilintarkastus Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Timo Tuokko
Authorised Public Accountant
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Sources and comments

To the Annual General Meeting of Solidium Oy
We have audited the accounting records, the financial
statements, the report of the Board of Directors, and the
administration of Solidium Oy for the accounting period
1.5–30.6.2009. The financial statements comprise balance
sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes to
the financial statements.
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the
preparation of the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Directors is
responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of
the company’s accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in
compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have
been arranged in a reliable manner.
Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance
with good auditing practice in Finland, and to express an opinion on the company’s financial statements and on the report
of the Board of Directors based on our audit. Good auditing
practice requires that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors are free from material misstatement and
whether the members of the Board of Directors of the parent
company and the Managing Director have complied with the
Limited Liability Companies Act.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the report of the Board of Directors. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
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This annual report was printed on Stora Enso Multiart Silk.
Graphic design: Incognito
Printed by: Libris
Photos: Pentti Hokkanen
Sources of photos of the companies’ Managing Directors: Elisa Corporation, Kemira Oyj, Metso Corporation,
Outokumpu Oyj, Rautaruukki Corporation, Sampo plc, Sponda Plc, Stora Enso Oyj, TeliaSonera AB

The key indicators for Solidium’s portfolio have been calculated by Suomen
Sijoitustutkimus Oy, an independent, outside service provider.
The key indicators of Solidium’s portfolio companies presented in this
annual report, related to full accounting periods, have been calculated by
Solidium. The calculations are based on information published by the companies, such as annual reports, releases, and company websites, or on other
publicly available information about the companies and their industry.
Quarterly or half year indicators are those released by the companies,
because the notes to financial statements available are not sufficient for
calculation of all key ratios.
Solidium analyses the financial information about companies in which it
has holdings in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Key indicators for companies often involve choices made on items to be

making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors.
The audit was performed in accordance with good auditing
practice in Finland. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors give a true and fair view of company’s
financial performance and financial position in accordance with
the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements.
The financial statements can be adopted and the Board of
Directors and Managing Director can be discharged from the
liability for the period audited by us. The proposal by the
Board of Directors regarding the distribution of retained earnings is in compliance with the Companies Act.
Helsinki, 7 September, 2009
Tuokko Tilintarkastus Oy, Authorised Public Accountants

Timo Tuokko, Authorised Public Accountant

included in the calculation. Solidium aims to follow a standardised analysis
procedure for all of its portfolio companies and assesses the nature of the
companies’ cash flow independently. Owing to these interpretations, the key
indicators may differ from those presented by the companies.
The dividends distributed for the 2007 accounting period were paid to
the State of Finland. Solidium in its current form had not been established
at the time of dividend distribution.
Information on the companies’ ownership base has been obtained from
the shareholder lists published by the companies.
This English version is a translation of the Finnish original. All discrepancies
between the language versions are unintentional, and in such cases the
Finnish version will prevail.
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